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COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF, DECLARATORY RELIEF, 

AND WRIT OF MANDATE

CRAIG J. CANNIZZO (State Bar No. 70379) 
E-Mail:  ccannizzo@health-law.com 
JOSEPH R. LAMAGNA (State Bar No. 246850) 
E-Mail:  jlamagna@health-law.com 
ANNALEE M. CLUBB (State Bar No. 313139) 
E-Mail:  aclubb@health-law.com 
HOOPER, LUNDY & BOOKMAN, P.C. 
575 Market Street, Suite 2300 
San Francisco, California  94105 
Telephone: (415) 875-8500 
Facsimile: (415) 875-8519 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

CALIFORNIA PHARMACISTS 
ASSOCIATION and DOES 1 through 
25, inclusive, 

Plaintiffs, 

vs. 

JENNIFER KENT, DIRECTOR, 
CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF 
HEALTH CARE SERVICES, ALEX 
AZAR, SECRETARY, UNITED 
STATES DEPARTMENT OF 
HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICES, 

Defendants. 

CASE NO. 

COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE 
RELIEF, DECLARATORY RELIEF, 
AND WRIT OF MANDATE 

Administrative Procedure Act Case
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COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF, DECLARATORY RELIEF, 

AND WRIT OF MANDATE

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

1. Plaintiffs, CALIFORNIA PHARMACISTS ASSOCIATION,  and 

DOES 1 through 25, bring this complaint pursuant to 28 United States Code 

(“U.S.C.”) section 1331, the Administrative Procedure Act (“APA”) as codified at 5 

U.S.C. § 701 et seq., the Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution, the 

Contract Clause of the United States Constitution, the Eleventh Amendment of the 

United States Constitution, Article 1 section 9 of the California Constitution, and the 

California Medi-Cal Act to compel Defendants Jennifer Kent, Director of the 

California Department of Health Care Services (the “Director”) and Alex Azar, 

Secretary of the United States Department of Health and Human Services 

(“Secretary”), to comply with the mandatory provisions of the federal Medicaid law 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1361. 

2. Jurisdiction.  Venue lies in this judicial district under 28 U.S.C. § 1391, 

in that the Director has offices within this judicial district and is thus deemed to 

reside within this judicial district. 

3. Intradistrict Assignment.  Many of Plaintiffs’ members are located and 

doing business within San Francisco, Alameda, Contra Costa, Marin, Napa, San 

Mateo or Sonoma Counties, and a substantial portion of the consequences of 

Defendants’ unauthorized and arbitrary activities are occurring within this judicial 

district and within these counties.  Furthermore, many of Plaintiffs’ members 

located and doing business here will suffer irreparable harm by Defendants’ 

retrospective implementation of the new reimbursement methodology, including 

withholding future Medi-Cal revenue from them. 

INTRODUCTION 

4. The State of California has egregiously botched its obligation to 

develop an appropriate reimbursement methodology for outpatient drugs for 

pharmacies that participate in Medi-Cal, California’s Medicaid program.  While the 

Case 3:19-cv-02999   Document 1   Filed 05/30/19   Page 2 of 27



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

5787953.6

3
COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF, DECLARATORY RELIEF, 

AND WRIT OF MANDATE

State estimates it will save over $60 million a year with the changes, it ignores that 

the changes are contrary to law and will result in Medi-Cal beneficiaries being 

denied access to life-saving medications. 

5. The cause of the crisis is the State’s failure to ensure that its new 

reimbursement methodology (“Covered Outpatient Drug Reimbursement 

Changes”), as outlined in State Plan Amendment (“SPA”) 17-002 , at a minimum, 

reimburses the costs of pharmacies to purchase and dispense drugs covered by 

Medi-Cal, as required by federal law.  See 42 C.F.R. § 447.502. 

6. With the changes, the State drastically reduced reimbursement for the 

drugs themselves (i.e., the Ingredient Costs), and while there was a slight increase to 

pay pharmacies for the costs of dispensing drugs (i.e., the professional dispensing 

fees), the increases failed, among other things, to account for the fact that certain 

drugs have much higher costs associated with dispensing and unique pharmacies, 

such as specialty and long-term care pharmacies, which are essential to beneficiary 

access, oftentimes face higher ingredient costs and dispensing costs. 

7. The changes are so drastic that specialty and higher cost drugs, 

especially those that require more services associated with dispensing, will not be 

adequately compensated by Medi-Cal.  Pharmacies will lose money purchasing and 

dispensing these drugs to patients and will stop dispensing drugs to certain 

categories of Medi-Cal beneficiaries. 

8. A rational business cannot operate with the losses on these drugs and 

will either not dispense them or refuse to continue to participate in Medi-Cal, by 

terminating the Medi-Cal provider agreement or going out of businesses. 

9. In such cases, there will not be other pharmacies available to 

beneficiaries, because of geographic limitations and the economic reality that for 

some drugs, no pharmacy can purchase and dispense the drugs without losing 

money. 

10. The federal agency charged with administering the Medicaid program, 
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the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (“CMS”), acting as the Secretary’s 

agent, approved the State’s plan and the changes in reimbursement.  However, it 

seems CMS was not provided with complete and accurate information from the 

State, voiding its approval. 

11. For example, the State did not disclose its many fundamental errors and 

failures in its payment study used to justify the changes, errors that were contrary to 

the federal law and regulations that required the State to transition to a 

reimbursement methodology based on actual costs. 

12. The State also did not disclose that it would change, without any 

reasoning, its previously documented position that specialty drugs should be exempt 

from rate cuts due to beneficiary access concerns. 

13. To the extent CMS was aware of the flaws, CMS determined, without a 

reasonable basis, that the reimbursement changes are consistent with Medicaid Act 

requirements.  Aside from being wholly inconsistent with its rulemaking process 

and federal law, CMS’s approval is arbitrary and capricious. 

14. Without any reasoned explanation as required by law, both the Director 

and the Secretary have completely abandoned and reversed a comprehensive 

reimbursement methodology for specialty pharmacy services and specialty drugs 

that they had adopted and approved after thorough study just a scant two years 

earlier. 

15. The approval of the defective SPA (17-002 ) was issued by CMS in 

August of 2017.  For almost two years, the State has continued to pay pharmacy 

providers under the reimbursement methodology set forth in the prior SPA 

applicable to pharmacies (SPA 12-014) as approved by CMS in March 2014.  So, 

while the State purported to change the reimbursement method with SPA 17-002, it 

was not implemented until February 2019. 

16. In addition to reimbursement flaws on a go-forward basis, the State is 

threatening to apply the new pharmacy reimbursement methodology on a retroactive
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basis contrary to the settled contractual expectations of the pharmacy providers. 

17. Urgent action is needed to stop the State’s implementation of the new 

retrospective reimbursement scheme, as the State is just now poised to begin 

initiating withholds or recoupments against the pharmacies’ Medi-Cal accounts 

receivable in order to implement the retrospective changes. 

18. The State will stop paying some pharmacies anything at all or reduce 

payments to them for Medi-Cal services going forward, at least for some period of 

time, in order to take back that portion of what was already paid to the pharmacies 

for the services rendered two years prior, before the changes were operationalized. 

19. In other words, Medi-Cal will be recovering the higher rates it paid 

under the old methodology by not paying for currently arising services in order to 

effectuate the retroactivity of the change back to April 1, 2017. 

20. The financial windfall to the State in threatened retrospective recovery 

of $18,000,000 will be a devastating blow to the pharmacies and the Medi-Cal 

beneficiaries at a time when the state is enjoying a record surplus in excess of $24 

million. 

21. Plaintiffs seek declaratory and injunctive relief to prevent the State 

from implementing and/or enforcing this unlawful withhold process.  Plaintiffs 

further seek to prevent implementation of the new, flawed reimbursement 

methodology going forward. 

THE PARTIES 

22. Defendant JENNIFER KENT is the Director of the California 

Department of Health Care Services (“DHCS” or the “Department”) and as such, 

has the responsibility to administer the Medi-Cal program consistent with the 

federal Medicaid Act.  The Director is sued in her official capacity.  The Department 

is the single state agency charged with the administration of California’s Medicaid 

program, known as Medi-Cal.  See California Welf. & Inst. Code §§ 14000 et seq.  
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The Director has an office in the City and County of San Francisco. 

23. Defendant ALEX AZAR, the Secretary of the United States 

Department of Health and Human Services (“Secretary”), is the federal officer 

responsible for administering the Medicaid program at the federal level.  The 

Secretary, through his designated agent, CMS, is responsible for reviewing and 

approving policy changes that states make to their Medicaid programs.  The 

Secretary approved the policy changes that California has made to Medi-Cal, which 

Plaintiffs are challenging herein. 

24. Plaintiff CALIFORNIA PHARMACISTS ASSOCIATION (“CPhA”) 

represents more than 5,000 pharmacists in California.  CPhA is incorporated in the 

State of California with its principal office in Sacramento, California.  It is the 

largest state professional association of pharmacists in the United States.  Many of 

CPhA’s members own or operate pharmacies in the State of California, many of 

which are providers under California’s Medi-Cal program.  The mission of CPhA is 

to represent pharmacists in all practice settings in the State, and to advocate the role 

of pharmacy as an essential venue of health care for patients.  CPhA brings this 

action on its own behalf and in its representative capacity on behalf of its members 

who will be directly and adversely affected by the threatened rate reduction, and on 

behalf of the Medi-Cal patients served by its members.  CPhA has many pharmacy 

members located and doing business in San Francisco, Alameda, Contra Costa, 

Marin, Napa, San Mateo or Sonoma Counties that will be adversely affected by the 

prospective and threatened retrospective Medi-Cal reimbursement changes 

described in this Complaint. 

25. Many of the members of CPhA are “Long-Term Care (LTC) 

Pharmacies” or “Specialty” Pharmacies as defined by the Department as follows: 

Long-Term Care (LTC) Pharmacy – A provider that 
dispenses medicinal preparations delivered to Medi-Cal 
members residing in an intermediate or skilled nursing 
facility, including facilities for the developmentally 
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disabled, hospices, assisted living facilities, group homes 
and other forms of congregate living arrangement. 

Specialty Pharmacy – A provider who dispenses generally 
low-volume and high-cost medicinal preparations to Medi-
Cal members who are undergoing intensive therapies for 
illnesses that are generally chronic, complex and 
potentially life threatening.  (Often, these therapies require 
specialized delivery and administration, but are not 
previously described.) 

FEDERAL MEDICAID LAW 

26. Title XIX of the Social Security Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 1396 et seq., the 

Medicaid Act, authorizes federal financial support to states for medical assistance to 

low-income persons who are aged, blind, disabled, or members of families with 

dependent children.  The program is jointly financed by the federal and state 

governments and administered by the states.  The states, in accordance with federal 

law, decide eligible beneficiary groups, types and ranges of services, payment level 

for services, and administrative and operative procedures.  Payment for services is 

made directly by states to the individuals or entities that furnish the services.  42 

Code of Federal Regulations (“C.F.R.”) § 430.0. 

27. In order to receive matching federal financial participation, states must 

agree to comply with the applicable federal Medicaid law and regulations, 42 U.S.C. 

§§ 1396 et seq.  Once a state has decided to participate in the Medicaid program, 

compliance with the federal Medicaid law and regulations is mandatory. 

28. At the state level, the Medicaid program is administered by a single 

state agency, which is charged with the responsibility of establishing and complying 

with a state Medicaid plan (the “State Plan”) that, in turn, must comply with the 

provisions of applicable federal Medicaid law.  42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(5) and 42 

C.F.R. §§ 430.10 and 431.10.  The State Plan must be submitted to the Secretary for 

approval and must describe the policies and methods to be used to set payment rates 

for each type of service included in the State Plan.  42 C.F.R. §§ 430.10 and 
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447.201(b).  Under federal Medicaid law, as interpreted by the Court of Appeals for 

the Ninth Circuit, changes to the State Plan may not be implemented by the state 

prior to being approved by the Secretary. 

29. Each state’s Medicaid plan must “provide such methods and procedures 

. . . relating to the utilization of, and the payment for, care and services available 

under the plan which may be necessary . . . to assure that payments are consistent 

with efficiency, economy, and quality of care and are sufficient to enlist enough 

providers so that care and services are available under the plan at least to the extent 

that such care and services are available to the general public in the geographic area 

. . . .”  42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(30)(A) (hereinafter “Section 30(A)”) (emphasis added); 

42 C.F.R. § 447.204. 

30. Section 30(A) has been interpreted by the Ninth Circuit Court of 

Appeals to require state Medicaid agencies to consider whether Medicaid 

beneficiaries have access to care equal to the general insured population when 

setting Medi-Cal payment rates and to preclude states from basing Medicaid rate 

setting decisions solely on budgetary factors.  Hoag Memorial Hospital 

Presbyterian v. Price (9th Cir. 2017) 866 F.3d 1072. 

31. The Secretary’s review and approval of any SPA as satisfying the 

requirements of the Medicaid Act is reviewable under the APA.  5 U.S.C. § 706 et 

seq.  Under the APA, agency action may be set aside where it is found to be 

arbitrary and capricious, an abuse of discretion or otherwise unsupported by 

substantial evidence.  Among other things, an agency acts arbitrarily and 

capriciously when it fails to follow governing law with respect to a particular 

decision or action.  Further, to comply with the APA, the Secretary must develop a 

record demonstrating adequate consideration of the relevant factors and a rational 

basis for his decision on the relevant SPA.  The decision to approve the Director’s 

changes to outpatient drug reimbursement was arbitrary and capricious under the 

APA and, therefore, contrary to law. 
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CALIFORNIA’S MEDI-CAL PROGRAM AND THE STATE’S ACTIONS 

32. The State of California has elected to participate in the Medicaid 

program.  California has named its program “Medi-Cal.”  See Cal. Welf. & Inst. 

Code §§ 14000 et seq.; 22 Cal. Code of Regs. (“C.C.R.”) §§ 50000 et seq. 

33. Medi-Cal healthcare payments are disbursed in two ways.  The first is a 

“fee for service” process whereby DHCS determines whether the healthcare services 

were covered and furnished to an eligible beneficiary, and, if so, pays the service 

providers directly.  Alternatively, the Department administers Medi-Cal through 

various managed care models operated by public and private entities under contract.  

This action concerns only payments made under the fee-for-service component of 

the Medi-Cal program. 

34. Payments from the Medi-Cal fee for service program to providers are 

governed by various statutes, regulations, and in some instances, informal 

handbooks, manuals or bulletins.  In the case of pharmacy services, reimbursement 

rates are set forth in the Reimbursement section of the DHCS Provider Manual for 

Pharmacy. 

35. Payment rates to pharmacies for drugs are also governed by Welfare 

and Institutions Code section 14105.45, as amended from time to time.  Pharmacy 

reimbursement for drugs under Medi-Cal is composed of two distinct components:  

payment for the ingredient cost of the drug product dispensed, plus a professional 

dispensing fee. 

36. Prior to July 10, 2017, Welfare and Institutions Code section 14105.45 

determined ingredient costs based on a concept of “Estimated Acquisition Cost” and 

a professional dispensing fee that paid $7.25 for retail pharmacies and $8.00 for 

long-term care pharmacies.  (Welf. & Inst. Code § 14105.45(b)(2)(A) (2016).)  This 

methodology was based, in part, on federal Medicaid law, such as 42 C.F.R. § 

447.502 (2016) (defining “Estimated Acquisition Cost”). 

37. The Provider Manual for Pharmacy set reimbursement consistent with 
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Estimated Acquisition Cost and a professional dispensing fee that paid $7.25 for 

retail pharmacies and $8.00 for long-term care pharmacies until approximately 

February 2019. 

PRIOR MEDI-CAL PHARMACY RATE LITIGATION AND SPA 12-014 

38. In 2011, in response to a state budget crisis, the state Legislature 

enacted Assembly Bill 97 (2011) which directed DHCS to reduce Medi-Cal 

pharmacy reimbursement rates by 10%.  CPhA filed suit in federal district court in 

2011 to challenge CMS’ approval of the 10% rate reduction as a violation of 

applicable federal Medicaid rate-setting standards established under Section 30(A) 

and to enjoin DHCS’ implementation of the 10% rate cut. 

39. While the lawsuit was pending and before DHCS could implement the 

threatened 10% rate reduction, DHCS was forced in early 2012 to modify its 

planned rate cut in response to additional information brought to the fore by the 

litigation.  As summarized by CMS, “the ten percent reduction would result in 

reimbursement below the pharmacists costs to acquire those drugs” and pharmacists 

“could not continue to furnish specific drugs and/or categories of beneficiaries.”  

Instead, under a new SPA submitted by DHCS in March 2012 and approved by 

CMS in 2014 (SPA 12-014), DHCS would exempt individual drugs or therapeutic 

categories of drugs meeting one or more of the following criteria: 

i.   Drugs for which documentation exists that the reduction [10% 
reduction] will result in reimbursement below the acquisition 
cost generally available to the Medi-Cal pharmacy provider 
community. 

ii.  Drugs that are only dispensed through limited or specialized 
networks of pharmacy providers. 

iii. Drugs that are used to treat unique clinical conditions with 
relatively low prevalence in the Medi-Cal population. 

iv. Drugs for which immediate or rapid negative clinical impact(s) 
will occur if consistent and ongoing access is impeded (e.g. 
drugs used to treat cancer, life-threatening infections, end stage 
renal disease, hemophilia, etc.) 
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SPA 12-014 (hereinafter “Exempt Drugs”). 

40. Effective March 31, 2012 and continuing uninterrupted for the past 

seven (7) years, DHCS has granted exemptions to several hundred categories of 

specialty drugs under the CMS-approved terms of SPA 12-014. 

CMS DIRECTS STATES TO ADOPT ACTUAL ACQUISITION COSTS

41. National Average Drug Acquisition Cost (NADAC) is based on CMS’s 

monthly surveys of retail pharmacies to determine actual average acquisition cost 

for covered outpatient drugs.  In 2012, CMS established the NADAC in order to 

create a more reliable estimate of actual acquisition costs for pharmacies.  The 

purpose of the NADAC was to create a new national price benchmark that more 

closely reflects the prices that pharmacies pay to acquire prescription and over-the-

counter drugs.  CMS contracted with a national certified public accounting firm to 

conduct monthly surveys of drug ingredient costs from independent pharmacies and 

chain pharmacies in the United States, and to develop and maintain the NADAC 

pricing benchmark.  Notably, specialty pharmacies are excluded from the NADAC 

survey. 

42. In February 2016, CMS directed state Medicaid agencies, such as 

DHCS, to develop a reimbursement methodology that paid pharmacies actual 

acquisition cost and a professional dispensing fee that takes into account all of the 

pharmacy’s costs in dispensing a drug.  (See e.g., 42 C.F.R. § 447.502 and 81 Fed. 

Reg. 5170 (Feb. 1, 2016) (“State Medicaid Agencies must comply with the 

requirements of § 447.512(b), § 447.518(a), and § 447.518(d)”.) 

43. In recognition of the impact of the cost-based product reimbursement 

methodology, CMS required states to assure that “pharmacy providers are 

reimbursed adequately for their professional fees within the requirements of CMS’ 

final rule.”  42 C.F.R. §§ 447.502, 447.518(d); 81 Fed. Reg. 5170, 5202 (Feb. 1, 

2016). 

44. In the Federal Register preamble adopting the final NADAC rules, in 
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response to numerous comments CMS emphasized that the final rule “is not 

designed to mandate state payment rates,” and that if a state adopts an average 

acquisition cost (“AAC”) model of reimbursement, “it should be .  .  . one that will 

allow the state to provide adequate reimbursement to Medicaid pharmacy 

providers.”  CMS also emphasized that to the extent that pharmacy providers have 

concerns about payment amounts, “(s)tates have flexibility to determine 

reimbursement for specific drugs and to provide timely updates in their AAC model 

of reimbursement as necessary to afford adequate reimbursement.” 

45. In response to CMS’s directive, the state Legislature revised Welfare 

and Institutions Code section 14105.45 to require the Department to establish a 

pharmacy reimbursement methodology based on actual acquisition costs in one of 

the following ways: 

(i)  the actual average purchase price paid by California 
pharmacies; 

(ii)  actual acquisition costs calculated by a vendor 
retained by DHCS; or 

(iii) use of a national pricing benchmark maintained by 
CMS adjusted by DHCS to verify that the AAC used 
represents the average purchase price paid by 
California pharmacies. 

Welf. & Inst. Code Sec. 14105.45(b)(5)(A), Stats 2017, ch. 52, §27 (SB 97). 

46. In addition, the same state legislation required DHCS “…to implement 

a new professional dispensing fee or fees.”  Welf. & Inst. Code § 14105.45(b)(2)(B).  

The State also obligated the Department to comply with 42 C.F.R. § 447.518 and to 

consult interested parties and appropriate stakeholders in the implementation.”  

Welf. & Inst. Code § 14105.45(b)(2)(B)(i)-(ii) (2016). 

47. The same state legislation also recognizes the unique status of 

“specialty drugs” which are defined as: 

      drugs determined by the department … to generally 
require special handling, complex dosing regimens, 
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specialized self-administration at home by a 
beneficiary or caregiver, or specialized nursing facility 
services, or may include extended patient education, 
counseling, monitoring, or clinical support. 

Welf. & Inst. Code § 14105.45(a)(13). 

MERCER STUDY OF PROFESSIONAL DISPENSING FEES 

48. The Department engaged a consultant, Mercer, to evaluate the 

ingredient cost and the professional dispensing fee.  The Mercer organization had 

virtually no prior experience in the establishment and review of reimbursement 

methods for Medicaid pharmacy providers.  More specifically and of greater direct 

impact on its subsequent failures, Mercer appears to have not been familiar with 

SPA 12-014 and the specific challenges facing specialty pharmacies dispensing 

specialty and exempt drugs in California over the majority of the past decade, and 

the solution developed by DHCS and approved by CMS to address those challenges.  

This lack of recognition and awareness is inexplicable inasmuch as SPA 12-014 had 

been approved by CMS only a little more than two years prior to Mercer 

commencing its AAC study in 2016. 

49. Mercer solicited data from California  pharmacies through two separate 

surveys.  One focused on data for the professional dispensing fee and another 

focused on data for the ingredient costs. 

50. The survey requests were unnecessarily burdensome and sent in most 

cases informally, through email, without sufficient notice of their importance.  

Mercer asserts it sent dispensing fee surveys to 5,644 pharmacies.  The  majority of 

pharmacies did not respond.  Of the 2,562 pharmacies that responded, the vast, vast 

majority of the responses were received from retail chain pharmacies.  Mercer 

admitted that LTC pharmacies only provided eleven “useable responses” (0.4%), 

and only three specialty pharmacies provided useable responses (0.1%).  Because of 
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the staggering failure rate to develop “useable responses” from LTC and specialty 

pharmacies, Mercer improperly disregarded the higher dispensing costs associated 

with these types of pharmacies.  In addition to failing to address the admittedly 

higher dispensing costs incurred by LTC and specialty pharmacies, disregarding 

these higher costs also artificially skewed the remaining dispensing costs data 

collected and improperly lowered the overall averages for the dispensing fee 

established for the state. 

51. In February 2017, Plaintiff registered serious concerns about the 

insufficiency of the data collected by Mercer from independent, specialty and LTC 

pharmacies, and about the inadequacy of the professional dispensing fee calculated 

by Mercer based on the insufficient data.  Plaintiff urged DHCS to legally require 

pharmacies to return the completed survey questionnaire, as it had done with its 

concurrent survey of ingredient costs.  Rather than follow up with the specialty and 

long-term care pharmacies, Mercer decided to ignore the three specialty pharmacy 

responses it received noting that they appeared to incur greater costs to dispense 

then revenue received from the Medi-Cal program (i.e., lost money).  Instead of 

further investigating the issue, Mercer concluded that “introduction of these 

variables into the regression did not produce intuitive results.” 

52. Mercer dated its report January 4, 2017 (“Mercer Report”).  The 

Mercer Report provided three options for determining “actual acquisition cost” for 

the ingredient cost and three options for determining professional dispensing fees.  

In all three options, the Mercer Report proposed to eliminate the prior dispensing fee 

distinction between retail and long-term care pharmacies without any valid or 

reasoned explanation. 

53. The Department elected to establish a two-tiered professional 

dispensing fee of $10.05 and $13.20 based solely on the volume of prescriptions 

dispensed. 

54. Based on the reimbursement options selected, Mercer projected a net 
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annual reduction in estimated Medi-Cal pharmacy payments of $67,191,000.  As 

part of its Report, Mercer compared the professional dispensing fee that it had 

calculated for California with other states.  However, in making this comparison 

with other states, Mercer failed to acknowledge the healthcare labor cost differences 

with these states, even though such comparative cost data has been calculated, 

documented and updated by CMS on an annual basis under a directive by Congress.  

That comparative healthcare labor cost data demonstrates that California’s 

healthcare labor costs are significantly higher than the national average. 

MERCER STUDY OF ACTUAL ACQUISITION COSTS 

55. The Mercer study’s survey of actual acquisition costs for California 

pharmacies failed for many of the same reasons as its failed survey of professional 

dispensing fees.  Mercer elected a sample size representing one-tenth of the total 

pharmacies in the state, but in doing so made no distinction or effort to make certain 

that the representation included a sufficient representation of specialty or exempt 

drugs as defined in state statute and in SPA 12-014, and a sufficient representation 

of “specialty pharmacies” as defined in its PDF survey instrument.  Mercer received 

372 responses representing less than 7% of the pharmacies in California. 

56. Specialty pharmacies are excluded from the NADAC survey.  

Therefore, acquisition costs for specialty drugs in the NADAC survey do not 

represent the acquisition costs for most of the prescriptions dispensed for these 

drugs, which are often dispensed by specialty pharmacies.  So if a specialty drug is 

dispensed in a community retail facility, there might be a NADAC for it, but it may 

not represent a true acquisition cost because it wouldn’t include the costs to the 

specialty pharmacies, which may face different acquisition costs and receive 

different discounts. 

57. Notwithstanding the exclusion of specialty pharmacies from the 

NADAC survey, the failure of Mercer to assure an appropriate representative 

sample of specialty pharmacies in its survey of actual acquisition costs for 
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California pharmacies, and the failure to acknowledge the list maintained by DHCS 

of drugs exempt from further rate reductions under the recently-approved SPA 12-

014, DHCS adopted a new rate methodology for specialty and exempt drugs which 

uses the NADAC index maintained by CMS.  DHCS has little or no evidence that 

California specialty pharmacies can obtain specialty drugs at NADAC-index pricing 

levels. 

APPROVAL OF SPA 17-002 

58. Before the Department could make the changes recommended by the 

Mercer study, it required federal approval.  See e.g., 81 Fed. Reg. 5170 (Feb. 1, 

2016).  Therefore, in an undated letter, believed to have been sent on or around May 

30, 2017, the Department submitted a proposed State Plan Amendment or “SPA” to 

CMS.  SPA 17-002 sought to amend the reimbursement methodology based on two 

of Mercer’s suggestion.  First, the Actual Acquisition Cost was to be based on CMS’ 

NADAC.  Second, the proposed Professional Dispensing Fee was to be $10.05 per 

claim for 90,000 or more claims per year and $13.20 per claim for fewer than 

90,000 claims per year. 

59. In its submission to CMS, the Department explained, “some 

commenters expressed concern that the increased professional dispensing fees may 

not cover their costs of dispensing.  DHCS does not agree, and does not believe this 

to be an access concern.”  As is clear with this lawsuit, DHCS was wrong. 

60. On July 10, 2017, while still awaiting CMS approval of the SPA 17-

002, the State chaptered a significantly revised version of Welfare and Institutions 

Code section 14105.45.  The amended version of  Welfare and Institutions Code 

section 14105.45 explained that there would be a change in the ingredient cost based 

on “actual acquisition cost,” as defined in a federal regulation, Title 42 Code of 

Federal Regulation, section 447.502 (“Section 447.502”).  It also explained 

“professional dispensing fee” would have the same meaning as in Section 447.502. 

61. Regarding professional dispensing fee, the federal rulemaking outlined 
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a methodology, not a specific rate.  The methodology required by CMS and adopted 

by the state, requires that the costs: 

include, but are not limited to, reasonable costs associated 
with a pharmacist's time in checking the computer for 
information about an individual's coverage, performing 
drug utilization review and preferred drug list review 
activities, measurement or mixing of the covered 
outpatient drug, filling the container, beneficiary 
counseling, physically providing the completed 
prescription to the Medicaid beneficiary, delivery, special 
packaging, and overhead associated with maintaining the 
facility and equipment necessary to operate the pharmacy 

62. The Department and Mercer failed to follow this federal law in their 

effort to change the reimbursement system. 

63. The DHCS submission for SPA 17-002 did not provide any 

information regarding the estimated impact on patient access and provider 

participation as a result of the $67 million reduction in Medi-Cal reimbursement for 

pharmacy services.  DHCS failed to compare Medi-Cal patient access to pharmacy 

services to the general insured population in the geographic area, as required under 

controlling appellate case law precedent. 

64. By letter dated August 25, 2017, the Secretary provided notice that he 

was approving SPA 17-002.  In its approval letter, the Secretary stated that the State 

“provided data and studies to demonstrate that the acquisition cost methodology and 

pharmacy dispensing fees being paid are sufficient to assure that Medi-Cal 

beneficiaries will have access to pharmacy services at least to the extent as the 

general population.” 

65. The Secretary’s approval was flawed and contrary to the very law it 

developed in the rulemaking process.  It should have denied SPA 17-002 and 

ordered the Department to properly evaluate the costs of acquiring and dispensing 

drugs. 

CPhA’S STANDING 

66. Many of the members of the CPhA are Medi-Cal providers.  These 
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Medi-Cal providers will suffer a concrete economic injury in the form of reduced 

payment for services by the unlawful implementation of the SPA 17-002. 

67. Medi-Cal providers are in a unique position to advance the interests of 

Medi-Cal beneficiaries.  The members of CPhA that provide services to Medi-Cal 

beneficiaries have an extremely close relationship with their Medi-Cal beneficiary 

patients who seek that care.  A Medi-Cal beneficiary cannot secure medical services 

without his/her health care providers and suppliers, and without reimbursement by 

Medi-Cal for those services.  Medi-Cal providers and suppliers are better positioned 

and informed as to the impact of a reimbursement rate cut on the services they 

intend to provide. 

68. Furthermore, Medi-Cal beneficiaries face economic hindrances to their 

ability to assert their own rights in this case.  To qualify for Medi-Cal, an individual 

must demonstrate financial need for medical assistance from the State.  In light of 

their finances and the cost of litigation, Medi-Cal beneficiaries may not be able to 

effectively protect their interests. 

69. CPhA, as a association representing the interests of pharmacists and 

pharmacies that participate in the Medi-Cal program and the Medi-Cal beneficiaries 

served by these providers, and as a party seeking to compel the Director and 

Secretary to comply with their public duties as defined by federal and state law, 

have a right and an enforceable interest to maintain this action to: (1) enjoin the 

Defendants’ continuing violation of federal Medicaid law; and (2) compel the 

Defendants to comply with the provisions of the applicable laws. 

70. Moreover, CPhA has a right and an enforceable interest to maintain this 

action against the defendants under the APA, to challenge the Secretary’s decision 

to approve SPA 17-002 and the Director’s implementation of the new rate 

methodology and to seek to enjoin the Director from implementing the NADAC 

method with an inadequate professional dispensing fee in the absence of an 

amendment to the California Medi-Cal State Plan incorporating the Rate Reductions 
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that has been validly approved by the Secretary. 

71. Under 28 U.S.C. § 2201, CPhA is entitled to a declaration of its rights, 

its members’ rights, and/or its members’ patients’ rights under federal Medicaid 

law. 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

(VIOLATION OF  

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURE ACT, MEDI-CAL ACT) 

(Against Defendant Secretary and Defendant Director) 

72. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference paragraphs 1 through 71 

inclusive, as though fully set forth herein. 

73. Under the federal APA, 5 U.S.C. §§ 701-706, courts must overturn 

agency action that is arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion or not otherwise in 

accordance with the law. 

74. The Secretary’s approval of the SPA 17-002 submitted by the Director 

that sets forth the new reimbursement methodology for outpatient drugs is the act of 

an administrative agency and subject to review under the APA. 

75. The Secretary’s approval of the Director’s SPA 17-002 is invalid under 

the APA because it is arbitrary, capricious and an abuse of discretion, and otherwise 

inconsistent with governing law, for the following reasons: 

a. The State and CMS implemented an impressible, retroactive 

change in reimbursement to pharmacies. 

b. Notice and opportunity to comment were insufficient. 

c. Federal regulations establish detailed procedures for determining 

the costs associated with pharmaceutical products dispensed to Medicaid 

beneficiaries, including a drug’s “actual acquisition cost,” as well as a “professional 

dispensing fee” and pharmacies’ “usual and customary” charges to the general 

public.  See 42 C.F.R. §§ 447.502, 447.512, 447.518.  Plaintiffs are informed and 

believe, and hereon allege, that prior to approving the changes to the reimbursement 
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rates paid to Medi-Cal pharmacies, the Secretary failed to consider the State’s 

flawed efforts to determine actual acquisition cost incurred by Medi-Cal pharmacies 

and the reasonableness of the professional dispensing fees paid by the State. 

d. Indeed, DHCS in evaluating a prior 10% rate cut acknowledged 

that “for selected specific drug products, or for specific types of providers, or in 

specific geographic areas,” the reduction “may impede access to selected Medi-Cal 

drug benefits and possibly result in a violation of federal Medicaid requirements.”  

The effect of the change in reimbursement at issue here would be just as disastrous, 

if not more so.  As a result, the Secretary’s decision was arbitrary, capricious, an 

abuse of discretion and not in accordance law. 

e. The record before the Secretary at the time he approved SPA 17-

002 demonstrates that the changes will adversely impact quality of care, and would 

not be sufficient to ensure that Medi-Cal beneficiaries would have equal access to 

services, because, among other things, SPA 17-002 will cause a significant 

deterioration in the financial health of many providers subject to the cuts and will 

cause them to either go out of business or otherwise cease providing services to 

Medi-Cal beneficiaries. 

f. Federal regulations require that the State Plan be sufficiently 

comprehensive that CMS can determine a state’s compliance with the Medicaid Act 

and implementing regulations to determine whether the plan can be approved for the 

purposes of providing Federal financial participation.  See e.g., 42 C.F.R. § 430.10. 

g. In approving SPA 17-002, the Secretary acted in excess of 

jurisdiction and otherwise failed to proceed in the manner required by law. 

76. Defendant Director is a proper party to this cause of action under the 

APA as the real party in interest, and in order to assure that the court can afford an 

adequate remedy to cure the violation of the APA.  Further, as a consequence of the 

invalidity of the Secretary’s approval of SPA 17-002, the Director is prohibited by 

California law from implementing changes to outpatient drug reimbursement, 
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including the changes identified in Welfare and Institutions code 14105.45, which 

provides that the changes shall be implemented only if the Director determines they 

comply with federal law and have been approved by CMS.  Section 14105.45(c). 

77. Section 50004 (b) of Title 22 of the California Code of Regulations, 

requires the Director to implement the Medi-Cal program in accordance with the 

State Plan. 

78. This Court has pendant jurisdiction and authority to enjoin the Director 

from violating California law. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

(DECLARATORY RELIEF) 

(Against All Defendants) 

79. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference paragraphs 1 through 78 

inclusive, as though fully set forth herein. 

80. An actual and justiciable controversy exists between Plaintiffs and the 

Director regarding the validity of the Covered Outpatient Drug Reimbursement 

Changes.  Plaintiffs contend that the changes are invalid and unlawful in violation of 

the United States Constitution, the California Constitution, federal statute and State 

laws, while the Director contends that the reimbursement limitations are valid in all 

respects. 

81. An actual and justiciable controversy exists between Plaintiffs and 

Defendants whether the Secretary’s approval of Director’s SPA 17-002 complied 

with the requirements of the federal Constitution, the federal Medicaid Act and the 

APA.  Plaintiffs contend that the Secretary’s approval of Director’s SPA 17-002 was 

arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion and not in accordance with applicable 

law, while the Secretary contends that she properly approved Director’s SPA 17-002 

in compliance with the federal Constitution, the Medicaid Act and the APA. 

82. Accordingly, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2201, Plaintiffs request this Court 

to declare that the Secretary’s approval of SPA 17-002 is invalid, that the Covered 
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Outpatient Drug Reimbursement Changes are invalid, unconstitutional, unlawful 

and preempted by federal law, and that the Director may not lawfully implement the 

changes. 

83. No administrative appeal process or other administrative remedy is 

available to Plaintiffs and/or Plaintiff’s members, as applicable, to challenge the 

Covered Outpatient Drug Reimbursement Changes. 

84. All of the said injuries are great, immediate, and irreparable, for which 

damages at law are inadequate, and for which Plaintiffs, and/or their members, have 

no plain, adequate or speedy relief at law or otherwise. 

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 

(VIOLATION OF US. CONSTITUTION CONTRACTS 

CLAUSE/SUPREMACY CLAUSE/42 U.S.C. § 1983) 

(Against All Defendants) 

85. Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 84, 

inclusive, as though fully set forth herein. 

86.  Article I, Section 10 of the United States Constitution, commonly 

known as the “Contracts Clause,” prohibits the government from impairing 

contracts without a legitimate public purpose.  Financial concerns alone are not a 

legitimate justification for laws that impair vested contractual rights. 

87. The relationship between pharmacies participating in Medi-Cal and the 

Department is in the nature of a contract.  See CMA v. Lackner, 117 Cal.App.3d 

552, 561 (1981).  The price of goods and services in a contract is an essential term 

which requires certainty if the contract is to be enforceable.  The set expectations of 

plaintiff’s member pharmacies does not include the expectation that the state will 

retroactively abrogate the essential price terms years after the delivery of the goods 

and services and years after final payment in full by the state. 

88. The pharmacies agree to participate in Medi-Cal and be paid the rates 

in effect at the time the services are delivered.  The threatened two-year retroactive 
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claw-back nullifies an essential financial term of the state’s contract with plaintiff’s 

member pharmacies. 

89. For all relevant times herein, and until February 2019, the Medi-Cal 

provider manual provided for reimbursement rates for pharmacy services based on 

the prior methodology of estimated acquisition cost and a professional dispensing 

fee of either $7.25 for retail pharmacies or $8.00 for long-term care pharmacies. 

90. The threatened retrospective change in Covered Outpatient Drug 

reimbursement impairs the vested contractual rights of Medi-Cal participating 

pharmacies in multiple ways, including: 

(a) Impairing the established right to terminate a contract, because 

changes are retroactive; 

(c) To the extent that the rate freeze is being applied retroactively to 

reduce reimbursement for services that were provided by pharmacies prior to 

the date that changes were properly enacted; 

(d) Requiring a retroactive reconciliation of their payments to the 

unspecified payment rates impairs their settled contractual expectations by 

requiring them to provide services to Medi-Cal beneficiaries, for multiple 

years, without knowing what they ultimately will be paid for such services. 

91. There was no legitimate public purpose for the changes and their 

accompanying impairment of contracts, because it was enacted for financial reasons 

and based on budgetary constraints. 

92. Even if there were a legitimate public purpose behind the changes, 

which there is not, the impairment of hospital contracts whether express or implied, 

is not a reasonable way of achieving that purpose. 

93. Accordingly, the contractual impairments effectuated by the changes 

violate the Contracts Clause and are unconstitutional. 

94. The changes have been enacted by the California Legislature under 

color of State law.  CPhA represents the interests of pharmacies that have been 

Case 3:19-cv-02999   Document 1   Filed 05/30/19   Page 23 of 27



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

5787953.6

24
COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF, DECLARATORY RELIEF, 

AND WRIT OF MANDATE

improperly deprived of their privately enforceable right to be free of government 

imposed contractual impairments guaranteed under the United States Constitution.  

Accordingly, the Director has violated 42 U.S.C. § 1983 with respect to the 

enactment and implementation of the rate changes. 

95. Also, the changes are preempted by the Supremacy Clause of the 

United States Constitution, art. IV.  Moreover, the changes, are preempted by the 

Supremacy Clause, because the Director cannot simultaneously comply with the 

provisions of California law requiring the implementation of the changes and the 

Constitutional prohibition on impairment of contracts without a legitimate public 

purpose. 

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(WRIT OF MANDATE – CAL. CODE OF CIV. PROC. § 1085) 

(Against Defendant Director) 

96. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference paragraphs 1 through 95 

inclusive, as though fully set forth herein. 

97. Plaintiffs have a beneficial interest that rates established for healthcare 

services comply with the requirements of the Federal and California statutes and 

case law concerning the obligations and duties of administrative agencies. 

98. The Director has a duty to comply with the law, but has violated this 

duty, by adopting and implementing the Reimbursement Changes in violation of 

Section 30(A), applicable to him by the Supremacy Clause, and in violation of the 

Impairment of Contracts clause. 

99. The Director has a mandatory duty to comply with the statutes related 

to reimbursement rates for pharmaceutical drugs.  Welfare & Institutions Code 

section 14105.45 sets reimbursement for Medi-Cal pharmacy providers.  

Subdivision (b)(5)(A)(iii) permits the Department to use NADAC pricing, but only 

if it first verifies that the actual acquisition cost represents the average purchase 

price paid by retail pharmacies in California.  The Director did not verify that 
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NADAC represents the average purchase price paid by retail pharmacies in 

California.  Further, NADAC is insufficient for determining the retail price paid by 

pharmacies for specialty medications since NADAC does not incorporate specialty 

pharmacy pricing into its index. 

100.  Subdivision (b)(5)(F) of section 14105.45 required the Director to 

collect data through a survey of pharmacy providers for purposes of establishing a 

professional dispensing fee or fees in compliance with federal Medicaid 

requirements.  The Director did not perform an appropriate survey or establish a 

professional dispensing fee that is in compliance with federal Medicaid 

requirements. 

101. Subdivision (c) required the Director to implement Section 14105.45 in 

a manner that is consistent with federal Medicaid law and regulations.  Federal 

Medicaid law includes Section 30A.  It also necessarily includes the federal 

constitution, including the contract clause.  Section 14105.45 is not being 

implemented consistent with federal Medicaid law and regulations. 

102. Section 14105.43 requires the Department to contract with a 

nonexclusive number of providers to ensure quality of care to people with unique 

conditions requiring specialty drugs, in such numbers that the contracted pharmacies 

will meet the needs of the affected population, covers all geographic regions in 

California, and reflects the distribution of the specialty drug in the community.  The 

Director has not properly ensured access to specialty drugs. 

103. Plaintiffs have performed all conditions precedent to the filing of the 

petition for mandamus.  No other adequate remedy exists under statute, regulation or 

other provisions of law.  Under California law, the existence of declaratory and 

injunctive relief does not prevent the use of mandate.  County of Los Angeles v. 

State Department of Public Health, 158 Cal.App.2d 425, 446 (1958). 

/ / / 

/ / / 
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FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(DECLARATORY RELIEF) 

(Against All Defendants) 

104. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference paragraphs 1 through 103 

inclusive, as though fully set forth herein. 

105. An actual and justiciable controversy exists between Plaintiffs and the 

Director regarding the validity of the Covered Outpatient Drug Reimbursement 

Changes.  Plaintiffs contend that the Covered Outpatient Drug Reimbursement 

Changes are invalid and unlawful in violation of the United States Constitution, the 

California Constitution, federal statute and State laws, while the Director contends 

that the reimbursement limitations are valid in all respects. 

106. An actual and justiciable controversy exists between Plaintiffs and 

Defendant Secretary regarding its approval of SPA 17-002 complied with the 

requirements of the federal Constitution, the federal Medicaid Act and the APA.  

Plaintiffs contend that the Secretary’s approval of SPA 17-002 was arbitrary, 

capricious, an abuse of discretion and not in accordance with applicable law, while 

the Secretary contends that she properly approved SPA 17-002 in compliance with 

the federal Constitution, the Medicaid Act and the APA. 

107. Accordingly, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2201, Plaintiffs request this Court 

to declare that the Covered Outpatient Drug Reimbursement Changes are invalid, 

unconstitutional, unlawful and preempted by federal law. 

108. No administrative appeal process or other administrative remedy is 

available to Plaintiffs and/or Plaintiff’s members, as applicable, to challenge the 

Covered Outpatient Drug Reimbursement Changes. 

109. All of the said injuries are great, immediate, and irreparable, for which 

damages at law are inadequate, and for which Plaintiffs, and/or their members, have 

no plain, adequate or speedy relief at law or otherwise. 

/ / / 
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COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF, DECLARATORY RELIEF, 

AND WRIT OF MANDATE

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for judgment as follows: 

1. For an Order declaring that the Covered Outpatient Drug 

Reimbursement Changes violate Section 30(A), the APA, federal law, and 

California Law, and are thus invalid and unconstitutional; 

2. For an Order declaring that it was arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of 

discretion and not in accordance with applicable law for the Secretary to approve 

Director’s SPA 17-002; 

3. For an Order setting aside the Secretary’s approval of Director’s SPA 

17-002; 

4. For an Order preliminarily and permanently enjoining the Director 

from implementing the Covered Outpatient Drug Reimbursement Changes, 

including any withholds or recoupments; 

5. For a Writ of Mandate precluding the Director from implementing the 

Covered Outpatient Drug Reimbursement Changes on the ground that the reductions 

are not in compliance with Section 30(A), unconstitutional, in violation of state and 

federal law, and improvidently approved by the Secretary; 

6. For a declaration that the Covered Outpatient Drug Reimbursement 

Changes are not in compliance with Section 30(A), unconstitutional, in violation of 

state and federal law, and improvidently approved by the Secretary; 

7. For attorneys’ fees and costs of suit; and 

8. For such other and further relief as may be just and proper. 

DATED: May 30, 2019 HOOPER, LUNDY & BOOKMAN, P.C.

By: /s/ Craig J. Cannizzo
CRAIG J. CANNIZZO

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
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